Now comes Petitioner, Antwyn D. Gibbs, Defendant below, and moves this Court to 

reverse the conviction and sentencing order in this matter. Petitioner further moves this Court to 

remand to the trial court for a new trial, or to grant other relief as deemed meet by this Court. 

I.: First Assignment ofError 

Petitioner's assignment of error is that the trial court erred, as an abuse of discretion, by 

not exercising its discretion upon the issue ofPetitioner's request that his right to six peremptory 

strikes not be reduced. 

One ofPetitioner's reasons for his motion to sever the defendants was that his right to six

issue was raised prior to trial. 

This issue was not taken up by the court. The court denied severance without addressing 

the issue of reduced peremptory strikes. Also, the court did not address by any other manner the 

issue of number of peremptory strikes, when such opportunity existed per the West Virginia 

Rules ofCriminal Procedure. 

Second Assignment ofError 

Petitioner's assignment of error is that there was insufficiency in the evidence presented in 
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support of Count Two - robbery in the first degree - and that the trial court erred in not granting 

Petitioner's motion for acquittal at the end of the State's case. 

Also, the indictment failed to allege, and the relevant jury instruction failed to mention, the 

element of fear as an element of robbery in the first degree. 

IL: Statement ofFacts and Procedural History 

On January 9, 2015, officers of the Oak Hill Municipal Police Department responded to a 

burglary in progress at an Oak Hill residence. Upon arriving, the officers were informed that 

four black male perpetrators had fled the scene. 

Statements were taken from residents of the address, and it was learned that the four men 

had entered the residence; that two had firearms; and that a safe containing nine-thousand dollars 

cash had been taken, along with a crossbow and two pairs of shoes. None of the residents had 

been harmed. 

Law enforcement received information of possible suspects living in Newberry, South 

Carolina. Two officers traveled there; a search warrant was obtained; and a residence there was 

searched. 

In the residence was located the crossbow and the two pairs of shoes. In the yard was 

located the safe. One of the persons occupying the house was co-defendant Kentrell Goodman, 

of Oak Hill, WV. 

Mr. Goodman provided a statement, wherein he stated that, on January 9, 2015, co

defendants Kevin Goodman, Jr., Radee Hill, and Petitioner had arrived at a Little Mountain, SC, 

residence and picked him up; and that they, along with co-defendant Rashod Wicker, had 
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traveled to Oak Hill, WV, and perpetrated the planned burglary and robbery. Specifically, 

Kentrell Goodman stated that Kevin Goodman, Jr., Petitioner, and Mr. Hill had entered the 

residence; that the first two had guns; that Mr. Wicker stayed with vehicle; and that Kentrell 

Goodman remained outside the residence. 

The five men left back for South Carolina and divided the cash at a residence there, 

according to Kentrell Goodman. 

Mr. Wicker then gave a statement advising of the same facts as had Kentrell Goodman. 

A four-count indictment was returned by the May, 2015, term of the Fayette Co. grand 

jury, charging all five individuals with conspiracy, robbery, entry of a dwelling, and grand 

larceny. 

Kentrell Goodman and Rashod Wicker entered into plea agreements and agreed to testifY 

for the State at the trial of the remaining co-defendants. 

A pre-trial motions hearing was convened August 7,2015, before the Hon. Paul M. Blake, 

Jr., in the Fayette Co. Circuit Court. The trial date was continued; testimony was taken regarding 

a photo line-up. Also, the trial court began to take up Mr. Hill's motion to sever defendants for 

trial. Appendix, P. 7-10, 12, 14-16,24-25. The Prosecuting Attorney somewhat agreed with Mr. 

Hill's motion. App., P. 9. Mr. Kevin Goodman, Jr. joined Mr. Hill's motion, and Petitioner he 

would be filing his motion to sever. App., P. 11-12. 

The trial court put off consideration of the severance motions. App., P. 16. However, the 

court did offer its basic preference to not sever defendants for trial. App., P.15. 

Petitioner filed his written Motion for Severance ofDefendants, and the motion was taken 
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up at the August 18,2015, pre-trial motions hearing. At that hearing, the trial court denied 

Petitioner's motion, and denied as well the severance motions of Kevin Goodman and Radee 

Hill. App., P. 35-48. 

Trial was held September 9,10, and 11,2015. 

All three co-defendants were convicted of first-degree robbery; entry of a dwelling; and 

conspiracy. The grand-larceny charge against each was dismissed after the co-defendants rested, 

because of the court's belief that larceny is a lesser-included charge of robbery. App., P. 806

808,812-814. 

Jury trial upon the State's recidivist information was scheduled for November 2,2015, and 

then re-set for November 18,2015. The jury found returned a verdict in favor of the information, 

and sentencing was scheduled for December 2,2015. 

Upon his conviction for conspiracy, Petitioner was sentenced to an indeterminate period of 

imprisonment of one to five years, which, pursuant to the recidivist information, was enhanced to 

two to five years. Upon his conviction for entry of a dwelling, Petitioner was sentenced to an 

indeterminate term of one to ten years. Upon his conviction for robbery, Petitioner was 

sentenced to a determinate term of fifty years. These sentences were ordered to be served 

consecutively. App., P. 1101-1105. 

It is from his conviction and sentencing orders that Petitioner appeals. 

Undersigned counsel was appointed by the trial court to represent Petitioner in this appeal. 
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III.: Summary ofArgument 

First Assignment ofError 

Per West Virginia Code 62-3-8, when defendants are joined for trial, six peremptory strikes 

are afforded all the defendants, in total. That is, the defendants, as a group, have six peremptory 

strikes. 

Yet, per Rule 24(b)(1)(A) of the West Virginia Rules o/Criminal Procedure, a defendant is 

afforded six peremptory strikes. Further, per W Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 24(b)(2)(B), the trial court can 

accommodate multiple defendants in a single trial by increasing the number of peremptory 

strikes. 

In that a rule of procedure controls when in conflict with a statute, Rules 24(b)(1 )(A) and 

24(b)(2)(B) control W Va. Code 62-3-8. 

Therefore, Petitioner's right to six peremptory strikes could have been accommodated by 

the circuit court's providing for an increase in the total number of peremptory strikes, as 

permitted by Rule 24(b )(2)(B), or by severing the defendants, thereby preserving each 

defendant's right to six strikes. Of course, this would not increase Petitioner's number of strikes 

beyond six. Rather, it would protect his number of strikes from dropping below six. This could 

be accomplished, for example, by starting with a jury panel of thirty-two, rather than twenty, in 

the case of three defendants, with each striking six. 

In that Petitioner raised this issue as grounds for his severance motion, the trial court's 

denial of the motion to sever, without addressing this issue of peremptory strikes, and declining 

to increase the number of peremptory strikes, also without addressing the issue at all, was error. 
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Second Assignment ofError 

Count Two of the indictment cites W Va. Code 61-2-12(a) but incompletely tracks the 

language of W Va. Code 62-9-6 ("Indictment for Robbery"). 

Specifically, Count Two alleges the robbery ofAndrew Gunn. Yet, the indictment failed 

to allege, and the State's jury instruction failed to mention, the necessary element of fear on the 

part of the victim. W Va. Code 62-9-6. Also, the trial court's jury instruction upon the elements 

of first-degree robbery omitted this element. 

In any event, there was no evidence at trial upon the element of any fear by Mr. Gunn. 

IV.: Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision 

Petitioner states that oral argument in this matter is necessary, pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the 

West Virginia Rules ofAppellate Procedure, in that, while this Court's decisions are clear as to 

rules of procedure controlling conflicting statutes, the particular conflict here does not seem to 

have come before this Court to date. It appears that the decision process would be significantly 

aided by oral argument. 

This case should be set for Rule 20 argument since the issue presented is one of first 

impression; that is, the conflict between rules of procedure (W Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 24(b)(1)(A) and 

Rule 24(b)(2)(B)) and a statute (W Va. Code 62-3-8). 

v.: Argument 

A.: Severance Issue and Peremptory Strikes 

The issue of severance of defendants in this case was first presented in the trial court by 

defendant Hill. He had filed his motion to sever defendants, and the issue was taken up by the 
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court at the August 7, 2015, pre-trial motions hearing. Mr. Hill presented scenarios justifying 

severance. App., P. 9. One was the admission at trial of certain evidence against another 

defendant that would not be admissible against Hill. Another was a situation of antagonistic 

defenses, or at least of a defense or strategy by another defendant that would be harmful to Hill. 

The prosecuting attorney stated that, while generally agreeing with a defendant's motion 

to sever, he wanted to review the applicable law. App., P. 9-10. 

Defendant Goodman orally joined Hill's motion. App., P. 11. Petitioner announced that 

he agreed with the motions to sever, for the reasons offered, and that he would file a written 

motion. App., P. 12. 

The trial stated its preference to try defendants together, and noted that the evidence in this 

case appeared the same as against each defendant. App., P. 15-16. The court set the matter for 

further consideration. App., P. 17. 

Another pre-trial motions hearing was convened August 18,2015. Petitioner had filed his 

Motionfor Severance ofDefendants August 17,2015. App., P. 1083-1085. Goodman had also 

filed a motion to sever defendants. App., P. 1088-1093. 

Hill presented his arguments for severance as had been presented at the August 7 hearing, 

adding that the three defendants, as African Americans, tried together in Fayette County, with a 

very small African-American population, might suffer consequential prejudice. App., P. 35-38. 

Hill also stated that, while W Va.R.Cr.P. Ru1e 14(b) grants the trial court discretion in 

deciding whether to sever defendants for trial, State ex reI. Whitman v. Fox, Syl. Pt. 2, 160 W.Va. 

633,236 S.E.2d 565 (1977), citing West Virginia Code 62-3-8, and quoting State ex reI. Zirk v. 
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Muntzing, Syl. Pt. 1, 146 W.Va. 349,120 S.E.2d 260 (1961), states just the opposite, that a 

defendant jointly indicted may elect to be tried separately. App., P. 37-38. Hill also stated his 

belief that, when a code provision conflicts with a procedural rule, the statute controls. App., P. 

38. As will be addressed infra, Hill was wrong on this last point. 

Goodman agreed with Hill's severance motion and referenced his own written motion. 

App., P. 39-41. 

Petitioner then addressed the court on his motion to sever. App., P. 41-43. His reasons for 

severance included the prospective prejudice of the credibility of one defendant as compared to 

Petitioner's (App., P. 41); the insufficient size of the courtroom to accommodate three defendants 

and their counsel and afford privacy ofattomey-client communication during trial (App., P. 42); 

the issue of the jury's expected demographic make-up (App., P. 42-43); and Petitioner's reduced 

number of peremptory strikes in a joint trial (App., P. 42). These issues had been included in 

Petitioner's written motion to sever, and the peremptory-strike issue is at paragraph 7: "The 

Defendant, Antwyn D. Gibbs, is unwilling to lower the number of strikes of Jurors he is afforded 

by West Virginia Law." App., P. 1084. 

The prosecutor stated that he took no position on whether the defendants' severance 

motions should be granted. App., P. 43-44. While acknowledging Fox, the State maintained that 

the trial court has the discretion whether or not to sever. App., P. 44. 

The trial court perceived a preference by this Court in favor ofjoinder of defendants, 

absent a showing of extreme prejudice. App., P. 45. The trial court also stated that the evidence 

against each defendant was the same. App., P. 45. The court also stated that a choice by a 
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defendant not to testify could be covered by jury instructions. App., P. 45-46. The court added 

its desire to reduce the cost and delay that separate trials would cause. App., P. 46-48. 

The court then stated: 

"This Court believes that it can properly instruct the jury so that each 
of these defendants, although they're being tried together, will be given 
their full litany of Constitutional rights and not be prejudiced by that joint 
trial. I haven't heard anything here that can't be taken care of in 
instructions." App., P. 46. 

Yet, the trial court did not address Petitioner's ground of reduced number of peremptory 

strikes, an issue that surely could not be cured by a jury instruction. 

Curiously, the court did state, after denying that the racial demographics of Fayette County 

posed any prejudice to the defendants, "So [ ] it's a situation where this Court believes that, 

particularly with all the strikes that all the defendants would be entitled to, we can select a jury 

that will fairly and honestly try this case and give these men the jury trial that they need." App., 

P.47. 

The court also stated, "So at this point, you know, all three of these young men will go to 

trial on the same day, and I trust that we can take care of these procedural points so that everyone 

gets a fair trial and the matter is promptly resolved ..." App., P. 48. 

Finally, when addressing Goodman's concern over the configuration ofthe courtroom for a 

joint trial, the court concluded, "Just like the issue ofjury strikes. You know, that's an issue that 

we're going to have to resolve." App., P. 56. 

On the first day of trial, the court and counsel discussed how to select an alternate juror. 

App., P. 140-144. The court decided that the defendants together would strike two from a 
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pool of four possible alternates, and that the State would strike one. App., P. 143. Petitioner and 

Hill objected. App., P. 143-144. Hill specifically noted that the statute on peremptory strikes in 

joint trials, W Va. Code 62-3-8, does not address alternate strikes in joint trials. App., P. 142. 

The court then decided to not have an alternate juror. App., P. 144. 


W Va. Code 62-3-8 states: 


"Persons indicted and tried jointly, for a felony, shall be allowed to strike 

from the panel ofjurors not more than six thereof, and only such as they 

all agree upon shall be stricken therefrom; and if they cannot agree upon 

the names to be so stricken off, the prosecuting attorney shall strike 

therefrom a sufficient number ofnames to reduce the panel to twelve. If 

persons jointly indicted elect to be, or are, tried separately, the panel in 

the case of each shall be made up as provided in the third section of this 

article. " 


Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rules ofCriminal Procedure is titled "Relief from prejudicial 

joinder." Rule 14(b) reads, in pertinent part: 

"If the joinder of defendants in an indictment, an information, or a 
consolidation for trial appears to prejudice a defendant or the State, 
the Court may sever the defendants' trials, or provide whatever 
other relief that justice requires." 

State ex rei. Whitman v. Fox, supra, referenced by counsel in the August 18,2015, pre-trial 

hearing, acknowledges and applies the second sentence in W Va. Code 62-3-8 as a matter of 

right; that is, a defendant joined for trial can elect to be tried separately. Syi. Pt. 2, Fox. 

Also see FN 10, Cole v. White, 180 W.Va. 393, 376 S.E.2d 599 (1988), citing State v. 

VanMetre, 176 W.Va. 365,342 S.E.2d 450 (1986), also citing Syi. Pt. 1, State ex rei. Zirkv. 

Muntzing, supra, also citing Fox. 

"Upon a joint indictment for a felony, anyone of the persons jointly indicted may, under 
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Code, 1931,62-3-8, elect to be tried separately." Syl. Pt. 2, Fox, quoting Syl. Pt. 1, Muntzing. 

Yet, W Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 14(b) is in conflict with Fox and W Va. Code 62-3-8. Rule 14(b) 

grants the trial court discretion in finding prejudice of a defendant and thus severing defendants 

joined for trial. This discretion is especially clear in light of the prior version of Rule 14(b) that 

the current quoted version replaced: 

"Upon a joint indictment or information in a felony case against several 
persons, the court shall upon motion of any defendant or the state order 
separate trials." 

West Virginia Constitution 8-3 states, in pertinent part: 

"The [supreme] court [of appeals] shall have the power to promulgate 
rules for all cases and proceedings, civil and criminal, for all the courts 
of the state relating to writs, warrants, process, practice and procedure, 
which shall have the force and effect of law." 

"As a result of the authority granted to this Court by the Rule-Making Clause [W Va. 

Const. 8-3], ' "A statute governing procedural matters in [ ] criminal cases which conflicts 

with a rule promulgated by the Supreme Court would be a legislative invasion of the court's rule

making powers" , " Louk v. Cormier, 218 W.Va. 81, 622 S.E.2d 788, 795 (2005) quoting State v. 

Arbaugh, 215 W.Va. 132, 138,595 S.E.2d 289,295 (2004) (Davis, J., dissenting) (quoting 

People v. Harris, 670 P.2d 441, 442 (Colo.Ct.App. 1983)). 

"The West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure are the paramount authority controlling 

criminal proceedings before the circuit courts of this jurisdiction; any statutory or common-law 

procedural rule that conflicts with these Rules is presumptively without force or effect." Syl. Pt. 

2, State v. Wallace, 205 W.Va. 155, 517 S.E.2d 20 (1999), quoted in Louk, at 795. 

"A review of some of the prior decisions of this Court indicate that we have historically 
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invalidated statutes that conflicted with rules promulgated by this court." Louk, at 795. 

Also see Mayhorn v. Logan Medical Foundation, 193 W.Va. 42, 454 S.E.2d 87 (1994) 

(WVRE 702 controls when in conflict with W. Va. Code 55-7B-7), cited in Louie, at 796-797. 

Also see Games-Neely ex reI. West Virginia State Police v. Real Property, 211 W.Va. 236, 

565 S.E.2d 358 (2002), cited in Louie, at 797-798. 

Therefore, W. Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 14(b) controls as to W. Va. Code 62-3-8. That is, a 

defendant joined for trial for trial in a criminal matter with one or more other defendants does not 

have a right to elect to be tried separately. Rather, the trial court, in its discretion, and to provide 

relief from prejudice, "may sever the defendants' trials, or provide whatever other relief that 

justice requires." Rule 14(b). 

Turning now to the first sentence of W. Va. Code 62-3-8: 


"Persons indicted and tried jointly, for a felony, shall be allowed to strike 

from the panel ofjurors not more than six thereof, and only such as they 

all agree upon shall be stricken therefrom; and if they cannot agree upon 

the names to be so stricken off, the prosecuting attorney shall strike 
therefrom a sufficient number of names to reduce the panel to twelve." 

Yet, W. Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 24(b)(1)(A) (Trial jurors; peremptory challenges; number of 

challenges; felony cases) states: 

"If the offense charged is punishable by imprisonment for more than one 
year, the defendant shall have six peremptory challenges and the state 
shall have two peremptory challenges." (Emphasis added.) 

W Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 24(b)(2)(B) (relief from limitations; multiple defendants) states: "If 

there is more than one defendant, the court may allow the parties additional challenges and 

permit them to be exercised separately or jointly." 
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Clearly, the rule conflicts with the statute. The statute permits defendants in a joint trial to, 

together, exercise a total of"not more than six" peremptory strikes. (Emphasis added.) The rule 

permits a defendant (one defendant) six peremptory strikes. Further, in the event of a trial of 

multiple defendants, the rule authorizes additional challenges; that is, more than six peremptory 

strikes. 

"[A]ny statutory or common-law procedural rule that conflicts with these Rules [of 

Criminal Procedure] is presumptively without force or effect." SyI. Pt. 2, Wallace, supra; Louie, 

supra, at 795. 

Petitioner, as well as defendant Kevin Goodman, Jr., effectively requested additional 

strikes: 

W Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 24(b)(2)(C) states, "A motion for relief under subdivision (b)(2) of this 

rule shall be filed at least one week in advance of the first scheduled trial date or within such 

other time as may be ordered by the circuit court." App. 12-13, 16-17. 

In his Motion for Severance ofDefendants, Petitioner, at paragraph 7, states, "The 

Defendant, Antwyn D. Gibbs, is unwilling to lower the number of strikes of Jurors he is afforded 

by West Virginia Law." App., P. 1089. 

Similarly, Goodman, in his Motionfor Severance, at paragraph 19, states, "The Defendant, 

Kevin Goodman, Jr., is unwilling to lower the number of strikes ofjurors he is afforded by West 

Virginia law." App., P. 1090. 

W Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 24(b)(2)(B) permits the trial court to increase the number of 

peremptory strikes when there are more than one defendant: "[T]he court may allow the parties 
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additional charges ..." Yet, here, the trial court did not address Petitioner's (or Goodman's) 

requests for additional strikes; that is, being "unwilling to lower the number of strikes of Jurors 

he is afforded by West Virginia Law." App., P. 1084, 1090. 

For the trial court to allow (or disallow) additional strikes, there must be some exercise of 

discretion. "[M]ay allow" calls for an exercise of discretion, and is meaningless without such 

exercise. 

The record is silent on this point because the trial court never exercised any discretion 

upon this issue. The court never addressed Petitioner's (and Goodman's) effective requests for 

additional strikes, despite stating (concerning how to configure the courtroom for trial of the 

three defendants), "Just like the issue ofjury strikes. You know, that's an issue that we're going 

to have to resolve." App., P.56. 

Apparently, the trial did not exercise discretion on this issue because the court followed the 

statute (W Va. Code 62-3-8) Tather than the controlling rules (W Va.R. Cr.P. Rule 24(b )(2)(B) or 

Rule 14(b )). The statute does not allow for more than a total of six peremptory strikes for 

multiple defendants, whereas Rule 24(b)(2)(B) (in relation to Rule 24 (b)(1)(A)) expressly allows 

for additional peremptory challenges beyond six, and Rule 14(b) permits "whatever other relief 

justice requires" in lieu of severance of defendants. (As stated, one of Petitioner's grounds in his 

motion for severance was that he wanted his six peremptory strikes, as afforded a defendant by 

Rule 24(b)(I)(A) (that is, not to be split among the defendants).) 

The trial court only addressed selection of an alternate juror and strikes as to that. App., P. 

140-144. The court did not address selection of, and strikes to, the members of the jury 
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itself, other than to paraphrase W Va. Code 62-3-8 (App., P. 142), which, in any event, does not 

control W Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 24(b)(2)(B) or Rule 14(b). After some discussion and disagreement by 

the parties, the court decided to proceed without an alternate. App., P. 144. 

Failure to exercise discretion constitutes abuse of discretion. 

First, an exercise of "discretion", even if it could be inferred from a silent record, without 

placing any reasons or ruling on the record, in fact without addressing at all Petitioner's and 

Goodman's requests for additional challenges, should not be accorded deference, since it is an 

exercise without discernible or reviewable basis. 

See Charles v. United States, 215 F.2d 825 (9 th Cir., 1954) (failure by trial court to exercise 

discretion in not applying a procedural rule held to be error); Woosley v. United States, 478 F.2d 

139 (8th Cir., 1973) (no exercise of discretion (in mechanically sentencing to the maximum) 

constitutes abuse of discretion) (cited in United States v. Horton, 488 F.2d 1086 (8th Cir., 1973); 

Vinci v. Consolidated Rail Corp., 927 F.2d 287, 288 (6th Cir., 1991) ("The failure to exercise 

discretion can also constitute an abuse of discretion[]" (trial court's sua sponte dismissal 

of personal-injury case)); Gonzalez v. INS. 996 F.2d 804,811 (6th Cir., 1993) (Bureau of 

Immigration Appeals' failure to exercise its discretion can be abuse of discretion); United States

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