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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's assignments of error are without merit and this Court should affirm the 

conviction because the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied petitioner's motion 

for severance from his two co-defendants; The trial court properly exercised its discretion in 

denying petitioner's motion for severance from his co-defendants. First, the trial court found the 

evidence presented at trial was virtually the same for all three co-defendants and that this evidence 

arose from the same criminal act. Thus, the evidence did not rise to the level of unfair prejudice 

that substantially outweighed its probative value. Second, neither petitioner, nor his co-defendants 

presented conflicting defenses at trial. Therefore, petitioner's assignment oferror is without merit. 

Sufficient evidence existed, viewed in a light most favorable to the State, to deny the 

petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal and the indictment and jury instructions are an 

accurate statement of law and legally sufficient. 
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ARGUMENT 


A. 	 The Trial Court properly exercised its discretion in denying petitioner's motion to 
sever his trial from his co-defendants because the evidence for all three co-defendants 
is inextricably intertwined, as it arose from the same robbery, and the co-defendants 
did not present mutually exclusive defenses at trial. 

Petitioner first challenges the trial court's denial of his motion for severance· from his co

defendants. Because the decision to grant or deny a motion for severance rests upon the discretion 

of the trial court, this Court must review the trial court's decision under an abuse of discretion 

standard. Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Rash, 226 W. Va. 35, 697 S.E.2d 71 (2010) (analyzing a motion to 

sever offenses made pursuant to Rule 14(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure). 

In a criminal prosecution, it is permissible to charge more than one defendant in the same 

indictment "if they are alleged to have participated in the same act or transaction or in the same 

series of acts or transactions constituting an offense or offenses." W. Va. R. Crim. P. 8(b) (1996). 

All of the defendants are not required to be charged in each count in the indictment.ld 

In addition to joining defendants together in a single trial, a trial court is permitted to sever 

joined defendants if a party shows prejudice as a result of the joinder. W. Va. R. Crim. P. 14(b) 

(2006). Rule 14(b) states in pertinent part that "[i]f the joinder of defendants in an indictment, an 

information, or a consolidation for trial appears to prejUdice a defendant or the State, the Court 

may sever the defendants' trials, or provide whatever other relief justice requires." ld 

Upon review, when considering whether a trial court abused its discretion in denying a 

motion to sever defendants, this Court has previously looked to three factors: (1) whether evidence 

brought against co-defendants is "inextricably intertwined"; (2) whether that evidence "arose from 

the same act or transaction"; and (3) whether the co-defendants presented conflicting defenses. 

State v. Cross, 2013 W. Va. LEXIS 1251,2013 WL 5966968 (W. Va. Nov. 8,2013) (memorandum 
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decision); State v. Grantham, 2013 W. Va. LEXIS 1360, 2013 WL 6152080 (W. Va. Nov. 22, 

2013) (memorandum decision). 

This Court has recognized that Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure 

tracks Rule 14 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. Rash, 226 W. Va. at 44,697 S.E.2d at 

80 (quoting State v. Ludwick, 197 W. Va. 70, 73, 745 S.E.2d 70, 73 (1996)) (considering federal 

case law in reviewing a motion for severance ofoffenses). Therefore, the Court may look to federal 

case law for review of a trial court's denial of a motion for severance of co-defendants. See id. 

Rule 14 of the Federal Rules of Criminal procedure states in relevant part that "[i]f the 

joinder of ... defendants in an indictment ... appears to prejudice a defendant or the government, 

the court may ... sever the defendants' trials." F.R. Crim. P. 14(a) (2002). In its interpretation of 

federal Rule 14, the United States Supreme Court has held that, in federal courts, joint trials are 

preferable in order to facilitate judicial economy and efficiency. Zajiro v. Unites States, 506 U.S. 

534,540, 113 S. Ct. 933, 122 L. Ed. 2d 317 (1993). The preference for joint trials trumps a 

defendant's motion for severance from co-defendants, provided that the defendant's right to a fair 

trial is not substantially prejudiced.ld. A defendant's motion for severance should not be granted 

merely because the defendant "ha[s] a better chance of acquittal in separate trials." Id. Moreover, 

the Supreme Court expressed a preference for measures less drastic than severance, including 

limiting instructions. Id. at 539. In Zajiro v. United States, four co-defendants' made various 

motions for severance made under the federal Rule 14 by reason ofmutually antagonistic defenses, 

all of which were denied by the trial court. 506 U.S. at 536. The Supreme Court affirmed the co

defendants' convictions for drug-related crimes and the trial court's denial of the motions to sever 

the four co-defendants' trials, id. at 537, rejecting the defendants' separate assertions of innocence 

were per se antagonistic and requiring a specific showing ofprejudice, see id. at 539, 540. 
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Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying petitioner's motion for severance 

because it considered the factors this Court outlined in Cross and Grantham. As to whether the 

evidence against each co-defendant was inextricably intertwined, the trial court found that the 

evidence was virtually tlle same for all co-defendants and that it arose from the same transaction. 

Moreover, the co-defendants did not present conflicting defenses at trial. During petitioner's 

motion for severance, he merely alluded to the possibility of prejudice, rather than showing actual 

prejudice. 

In addition to the Cross factors, the trial court made several other pertinent considerations 

during the hearing for petitioner's motion for severance. First, the trial court noted that this Court's 

previous decisions seemed to show a preference for joint trials, unless a party sufficiently 

demonstrates prejudice. Second, the trial court expressed concern for resolving the three 

codefendants' cases in a speedy fashion, as well as the expense of three separate trials. Moreover, 

the trial court believed evidentiary issues that may have arisen from the codefendants testifying 

against each other could be alleviated by proper limiting instructions to the jury. 

Because the trial court made proper considerations in its decision to deny petitioner's 

motion for severance, it did not abuse its discretion. Therefore, this Court should affmn petitioner's 

conviction. 
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B. 	 The evidence offered against petitioner at trial was neither irrelevant, nor 
substantially prejudicial to petitioner. There was insufficient evidence and the trial 
court erred in not granting a motion for judgment of acquittal. The indictment and 
jury instructions were insufficient. 

As primary grounds for the motion for severance, petitioner contends the physical evidence 

presented at trial was both prejudicial and irrelevant as it pertained to petitioner. This raises the 

overiapping issue of whether the trial court properly admitted evidence against petitioner. This 

Court reviews evidentiary rulings of a trial court for abuse of discretion. Syl. Pt. 4, State v. 

Rodoussakis, 204 W. Va. 58,511 S.E.2d 469 (1998). 

Generally, relevant evidence is admissible, and irrelevant evidence is inadmissible. W. Va. 

R. Evid. 402 (2014). "Evidence is relevant if: (a) it has any tendency to make a fact more or less 

probable than it would be without the evidence; and (b) the [asserted] fact is of consequence in 

determining the action." W. Va. R. Evid. 401 (2014). Relevant evidence may be inadmissible 

under the state or federal Constitutions, the West Virginia Rules of evidence, or other rules this 

Court adopts, or the trial court has the discretion to "exclude relevant evidence if its probative 

value is substantially outweighed by a danger of ... lmfair prejudice." W. Va. R. Evid. 402, 403 

(2014). These rules direct trial courts "to admit relevant evidence, but to exclude evidence whose 

probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of prejudice to the defendant." Syl. Pt. 

4, Gable v. Kroger, 186 W. Va. 62, 410 S.E.2d 701 (1991). 

If evidence is erroneously admitted at trial, this Court must determine whether such an 

error was harmless to the defendant. SyI. Pt. 10, State v. Mills, 219 W. Va. 28, 631 S.E.2d 586 

(2005) (per curiam). In a criminal proceeding, "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity, or variance which 

does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." W. Va. R. erim. P. 52(a) (1981). This 

Court's analysis asks whether an error was harmless by determining whether properly admitted 
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evidence was sufficient to sustain a conviction and whether erroneously admitted evidence 

prejudiced the jury at trial. Syl. Pt. 10, Mills. 

Here, though petitioner questions the relevance of the physical evidence admitted at trial, 

petitioner acknowledges that two ofthe five codefendants offered testimonial evidence that tended 

to inculpate petitioner in the events that occurred surrounding the home invasion and robbery. As 

to the physical evidence, petitioner objected to a substantial portion of it on the grounds that such 

evidence was irrelevant and prejudicial. Petitioner fails to specify which of the physical evidence 

admitted at trial constitutes reversible error, but rather makes a blanket statement that the physical 

evidence was irrelevant and prejudicial. Generally, these determinations fall within the discretion 

of the trial court and should not be disturbed unless petitioner raises some specifically stated 

prejudicial impact on the jury. In this case, there is none. 

Moreover, assuming, for the sake of argument, that the trial court abused its discretion in 

denying petitioner's motion for severance, the conviction should be affirmed because the error was 

harmless. If this Court determines that any of the physical evidence was erroneously admitted 

against petitioner, direct testimony from Kentrell Goodman and Rashod Wicker, both of whom 

made plea agreements with the State, inculpated petitioner in the robbery. Additionally, 

petitioner's wallet was recovered from the home where stolen property connected to the robbery 

was recovered, namely the crossbow and shoes, which does provide a link to at least some of the 

physical evidence admitted at trial. Therefore, there was sufficient evidence to find petitioner 

guilty of the robbery of the Knights' home. Because the trial court did not abuse its discretion and 

because there was sufficient evidence to convict petitioner ofall charges, this Court should affirm 

petitioner's conviction. 
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The petitioner challenges the sufficiency ofevidence presented in this matter as to the crime 

elements ofrobbery, specifically the element of fear. This Court addressed the matter succinctly 

in State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657 (1995). In that matter the Court in Syllabus Point 3 stated, 

A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to 

support a conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must 
review all the evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most 

favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility 
assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. 
The evidence need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of 

guilt so long as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court. 
Finally, a jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains 
no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could 
find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. To the extent that our prior cases are 

inconsistent, they are expressly overruled. 

The petitioner seeks to speculate how the victims in this matter perceived and felt about 

suffering a home invasion perpetrated by armed men on the morning in question. The trial court, 

viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, as established in Guthrie, found the 

crime elements of robbery proven. 

West Virginia Code §61-2-12. Robbery or attempted robbery; (a) Any 
person who commits or attempts to commit robbery by: (1) Committing 
violence to the person, including, but not limited to, partial strangulation 

or suffocation or by striking or beating; or (2) uses the threat of deadly 
force by the presenting of a firearm or other deadly weapon, is guilty of 
robbery in the first degree and, upon conviction thereof, shall be 
imprisoned in a state correctional facility not less than ten years. 

The indictment and jury instructions in this matter accurately recite the law as it relates to 

robbery and properly put the defendant on notice of the crime against him. 
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CONCLUSION 


The petitioner in this matter faced a fairly presented, complete criminal prosecution 

containing cooperating co-defendants with corroborating physical evidence directly linking the 

petitioner to the criminal charges. The petitioner has failed to meet the burden necessary to reverse 

the conviction aforesaid and accordingly, the respondent requests this Court DENY the relief 

sought and AFFIRM the trial court's verdict. 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA 
By Counsel 

BRIAND. PARSONS (WV State BarNo. 8105) 
Chief Assistant Prosecuting Attorney 
108 East Maple Avenue 
Fayetteville, WV 25840 
304.574.4230